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Pursuant to Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Defendant National 

Beverage Corp. (“National Beverage” or “Defendant”), by and through its undersigned 

counsel, hereby requests that the Court assess sanctions in the form of attorney’s fees and other 

relief against Plaintiff Lenora Rice (“Plaintiff”) and her counsel for the outlandish, unsupported, 

and verifiably false allegations contained in the putative Class Action Complaint (hereinafter 

“Complaint” or “Compl.”).   

INTRODUCTION 

1. National Beverage, as the innovator supreme, ignited a millennial cult that 

changed the soft drink industry into the healthier, better-for-the-consumer industry that it is 

today.  National Beverage, through deliberate and precious innovative design and development, 

created LaCroix, a brand that became the sparkling “wonder” of the domestic sparkling water 

phenomenon.  As is the world of wonder, when public acceptance acknowledges authenticity and 

goodness – LaCroix sparkling water was recognized for what its developer created – a 

“spectacular, great-tasting, healthy product.”  So America became ‘enamored’ with the name 

LaCroix.  This gave rise to this litigation!  

2. Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure is one of the many tools that 

enable this Court to uphold the integrity and public trust in our judicial system.  Plaintiff and her 

counsel, who together filed another consumer class action in this Court1, are in the business of 

bringing consumer class actions with make-ready plaintiffs for hire.  Witness the multiple cases 

in this very same jurisdiction with different defendants, the same plaintiffs and the exact same 

“Officers of the Court.”  This Court is charged with protecting the public trust and certainly in 

view of Plaintiff’s frivolous lawsuit and her counsel’s wholly unsupported brand assassination 

                                                 

1 See Rice v. Saks Fifth Avenue LLC, Docket No. 1:18-cv-08255 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 17, 2018) (Plaintiff and her counsel 
commenced another putative class action in December). 
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cunningly designed to harm both National Beverage’s innocent shareholders and its loyal base of 

consumers.   

3. Plaintiff’s Complaint - possibly supported by those seeking to profiteer in the 

public stock markets at the expense of unsuspecting shareholders - states “LaCroix contains . . . 

synthetic” ingredients and relies upon a so-called laboratory analysis which did not actually test 

whether the ingredients in LaCroix are natural or synthetic.  Further Plaintiff’s laboratory 

analysis affirmatively disclaims any “. . . warranty express[] or implied . . . [and which] assumes 

no obligation or liability with respect to the use of the results.”  Contrary to Plaintiff’s so-called 

laboratory findings, a laboratory accredited under the strict standards set by the International 

Standards Organization tested LaCroix’s ingredients and confirmed that they were derived from 

only natural sources, with conclusive proof that no trace of artificial or synthetic additives 

are included in LaCroix sparkling water. 

4. Further, Plaintiff and her counsel claim LaCroix sparkling water “contains various 

compounds the [United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”)] has held to be 

‘synthetic’ or ‘artificial.’”  This damning allegation, which is the core of Plaintiff’s case, lacks 

evidentiary support and is based on an interpretation of the law that is so misguided and so 

unreasonable that it can only be the product of bad faith.  The FDA has stated that the description 

natural on a food label is truthful and non-misleading when “nothing artificial or synthetic has 

been included in, or has been added.”   This is the undisputed case with every LaCroix 

beverage.   

5. Indeed as further evidence of malicious misconduct, Plaintiff and her counsel’s 

companion “press release” – a plain, public smear campaign – has been picked up by the media 

and capitalized upon by opportunistic short-sellers and competitors of National Beverage.  (For 

Case: 1:18-cv-07151 Document #: 33 Filed: 02/14/19 Page 6 of 29 PageID #:163



 

3 

example, the press release resulted in television news coverage of the press release’s allegations 

on nearly 200 television stations across the United States).  The resulting damage has been 

staggering, robbing shareholders of market value over a billion dollars, with losses continuing!   

Plaintiff and her counsel’s reckless conduct and resulting damage caused to National Beverage 

and its LaCroix brand is unprecedented. The smear campaign employed by Plaintiff and her 

counsel through the use of incendiary language (“tumors,” “cockroach insecticide,” and 

“cancer”) is intentionally malicious and is nothing less than financial terrorism.  What’s worse, 

this litigation has been undertaken with NO BASIS, maliciously flawed “testing” of a single 

flavor and deceptively applied law. 

6. Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure impose upon Plaintiff and her 

counsel, as officers of the Court, an obligation to conduct due diligence before bringing this 

lawsuit.  As experienced attorneys, Plaintiff’s counsel also undoubtedly understand the 

catastrophic harm the atrocious set of fabrications would cause to the LaCroix Brand and billions 

of losses to innocent investors of National Beverage.  This fraud upon the Court alone is 

justification to sanction and punish Plaintiff and her counsel (Officers of the Court).  

Responsibility – Truth – Accountability!  While America has observed a disintegration of these 

virtues in today’s society, our distinguished judicial system still has courts that make our 

democracy the envy of the world. 

BACKGROUND 

7. Through this lawsuit and in public statements, Plaintiff and her counsel have 

launched an extortive assault on National Beverage premised solely upon false allegations that 

are completely and utterly devoid of any factual or legal support.  This lawsuit was commenced 

in bad faith and for the improper purpose of inflicting harm and damage to National Beverage 
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and its shareholders solely for Plaintiff’s financial gain.  In violation of Rule 11 of the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff and her counsel have set forth and urged salacious allegations 

against National Beverage and the LaCroix brand without conducting a reasonable, appropriate 

pre-filing inquiry into the alleged facts or law governing Plaintiff’s purported claims.   

8. Sanctions under Rule 11 against Plaintiff and her counsel are warranted because:  

 First, Plaintiff and her counsel filed and have maintained this action based upon 

an incorrect, nonsensical interpretation of regulations governing substances 

deemed safe for consumption by the FDA.  Specifically, the regulation relied 

upon by Plaintiff and her counsel (Section 21 CFR 182.60) simply states that the 

synthetic versions of certain ingredients are generally recognized as safe for 

consumption.  It does not state that the ingredients listed in this regulation are 

per se or always equal to being a synthetic ingredient. Yet, without any legal 

support, Plaintiff and her counsel, in bad faith, contend that if an ingredient is 

listed in this regulation it is per se always synthetic –  ignoring the fact that there 

are natural versions of these products (such as those contained in LaCroix 

beverages) and ignoring that there is no legal support for this illogical 

conclusion.  

 Second, Plaintiff and her counsel filed and have maintained this action based 

upon testing of a single flavor commissioned by Plaintiff and her counsel, the 

purported results of which do not support, in any way, their core allegation that 

LaCroix sparkling water contains “synthetic” ingredients.  Further, the form and 

type of testing performed by Plaintiff and her counsel on a single flavor would 

not even detect if LaCroix sparkling water contains “synthetic” ingredients.  It is 
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impossible to “reverse engineer” an already-carbonated beverage to divine its 

original, pre-carbonation ingredients. 

 Third, Plaintiff’s Complaint and press releases, consciously and deliberately, 

associated a commonly-used food additive of a rapidly growing consumer 

beverage to a poisonous substance for maximum effect.  

9. By way of background, National Beverage develops, markets, and sells LaCroix 

sparkling water as a healthy beverage alternative to traditional carbonated soft drinks.  The 

flavoring essence ingredients that are contained in LaCroix sparkling water are certified by a 

third party as one hundred percent natural.  No synthetic or artificial ingredients are added in the 

development or manufacturing process.  As such, National Beverage has marketed LaCroix 

sparkling water as “naturally essenced,” “all natural,” and “100% natural.”  

10. National Beverage employs highly experienced and accredited professionals that 

work closely with third parties and suppliers to create LaCroix sparkling water.  To ensure that 

LaCroix sparkling water contains only natural ingredients, National Beverage adheres to 

meticulous quality control standards and uses a tightly controlled, rigorous product 

manufacturing and development process.   

11. The present action amounts to nothing more than a vicious, calculated attack on 

National Beverage and the LaCroix brand in an apparent attempt to capitalize on the groundswell 

of litigation involving products labeled as “all natural.”  By way of summary, Plaintiff and her 

counsel (recklessly and in bad faith) allege that representations appearing on labeling and 

packaging for LaCroix sparkling water are false and misleading because LaCroix sparkling water 

allegedly “contains various compounds the FDA has held to be ‘synthetic’ or ‘artificial.’”  (See 

Nov. 26, 2018 Letter from Beaumont Costales LLC to K&L Gates LLP, attached hereto as 
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Exhibit A.)  Unfortunately for Plaintiff and her counsel, the FDA has made no such holding, 

regulation, or other finding.  According to the FDA itself, it “has not engaged in rulemaking to 

establish a formal definition for the term ‘natural.’”  “Natural” on Food Labeling, U.S. FOOD & 

DRUG ADMIN., https://www.fda.gov/Food/GuidanceRegulation/GuidanceDocumentsRegulatory 

Information/LabelingNutrition/ucm456090.htm (last visited Jan. 17, 2019).  While the FDA has 

a “longstanding policy concerning the use of ‘natural’ in food labeling,” it has considered the 

term “natural” to mean that “nothing artificial or synthetic has been included in or has been 

added to a food.”  See Food & Drug Admin., Food Labeling: Nutrient Content Claims, General 

Principles, Petitions, Definition of Terms; Definitions of Nutrient Content Claims for the Fat, 

Fatty Acid, and Cholesterol Content of Food, 58 Fed. Reg. 2302, 2407 (Jan. 6, 1993).  A simple 

Google search by Plaintiff and her counsel would have confirmed that the FDA has not 

specifically ruled or provided any guidance on the ingredients that appear in LaCroix sparkling 

water that the Plaintiff and her counsel have unilaterally deemed “synthetic.”   

12. Although Plaintiff conducted testing of a single flavor of LaCroix sparkling water 

prior to filing the Complaint, Plaintiff and her counsel intentionally withheld this information 

about the testing in the Complaint, which deprived Defendant of the ability to properly combat 

the reckless allegations in the Complaint, including demonstrating that the testing is not related 

to the actual allegations contained in the Complaint.   

13. In addition, Plaintiff’s Complaint is devoid of any specific references or citations 

to the FDA regulations allegedly relied upon in bringing this action.  Thus, Plaintiff effectively 

deprived National Beverage of the ability to address at the outset the unfounded - and indeed bad 

faith - nature of Plaintiff’s claims.  In a recent Rule 26(f) telephone conference, however, 

Plaintiff’s counsel revealed that this false and inflammatory allegation (and, to be sure, this entire 
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lawsuit) is premised upon the recently-disclosed testing of a single flavor of LaCroix sparkling 

water conducted by a third party at the direction of Plaintiff and her counsel.  (See Water 

Analysis for Analytes of Interest, attached hereto as Exhibit B.)2   

14. Even a cursory review of the testing reveals that it has no bearing on the 

allegations put forth in this lawsuit.  Put simply, the test does not and cannot conclude, state, 

imply, or otherwise support in any way whatsoever Plaintiff’s core allegation, namely, that 

LaCroix sparkling water contains ingredients that are synthetic, artificial, or not 100% natural.  

Rather, the testing was an outcome-determinative effort irrespective of the results, simply so 

Plaintiff could attempt to move forward with this lawsuit.     

15. In fact, the allegations in the Complaint are in direct contravention of 

scientific evidence obtained through rigorous testing by an independent laboratory, which 

conclusively establishes that LaCroix sparkling water is “all natural” and contains “no 

evidence of synthetic source.”  (See Radiocarbon Reports by Beta Analytic, Inc., Biobased and 

Biogenetic Carbon Testing Laboratory, attached hereto as Group Exhibit C.) 

16. In addition to the salacious allegations contained in the Complaint, Plaintiff’s 

counsel issued a defamatory press release that repeats the same false, bad faith allegations in a 

forum where maximum damage could be done to the LaCroix brand and the employees and 

shareholders of National Beverage.  Beaumont Costales, Beaumont Costales Files Class Action 

Lawsuit Against LaCroix Water, BEAUMONT COSTALES BLOG (Oct. 1, 2018), available at: 

https://beaumontcostales.com/beaumont-costales-files-class-action-lawsuit-against-lacroix-water.  

Like the Complaint, the press release claims that LaCroix sparkling water contains synthetic and 

artificial ingredients, and repeats the scandalous and gratuitous allegation that certain of those 

                                                 

2 On November 26, 2018, contemporaneously with her initial disclosures pursuant to Rule 26(a)(1) of the Federal 
Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff disclosed this testing and produced the attached report.  
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ingredients also appear in other non-consumable products.  Such claims and allegations have 

absolutely no good faith basis and have been presented for the nefarious and improper purpose of 

provoking fear and concern in the minds of consumers.  As a direct result and consequence of 

this incendiary press release, National Beverage suffered over a billion in losses to its market 

capitalization, causing significant damage to National Beverage and its shareholders.   

17. This assault on National Beverage and its shareholders was commenced by 

Plaintiff and her counsel in a transparent effort to distort facts, damage and destroy National 

Beverage and the LaCroix brand, cause substantial harm to the shareholders of National 

Beverage, and inflame and strike fear in the public, in what National Beverage can only surmise 

was a premediated strategy, designed and orchestrated to extort a quick settlement.  Plaintiff’s 

allegations are devoid of any merit whatsoever, and National Beverage will not be coerced into a 

settlement simply to appease Plaintiff and her counsel.    

18. Intentionally missing from the Complaint (presumably because any such 

admission by Plaintiff and her counsel would undermine the false and inflammatory allegations 

made therein, as well as any import of the testing commissioned by Plaintiff and her counsel) is 

the fact that the FDA has recognized that the ingredients identified by Plaintiff and her counsel 

as present in LaCroix sparkling water exist in both natural and synthetic forms.  And, critically, 

thorough, comprehensive, and independent laboratory testing has revealed that these ingredients, 

to the extent trace amounts may be found in certain LaCroix products, are found in their 

naturally-occurring forms, derived from fruits and plants.  (See Grp. Ex. C.)  Plaintiff’s 

testing in no way refutes this.   

In light of the above and as set forth more fully below, sanctions pursuant to Federal Rule 

of Civil Procedure 11 are appropriate.  The Complaint itself (which does not attach or reference 
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the testing commissioned by Plaintiff and her counsel) suggests that Plaintiff and her counsel 

have blindly and recklessly alleged, without any factual basis, that LaCroix sparkling water 

contains synthetic or artificial ingredients.  Moreover, the recent disclosure of Plaintiff’s so-

called testing reveals that their conduct is, in fact, even more egregious than that and, indeed, 

sanctionable: Plaintiff and her counsel obtained testing results that they knew, or at least should 

have known, did not support their inflammatory allegations, but nevertheless proceeded with this 

baseless lawsuit against National Beverage.  As a result, Plaintiff and her counsel have inflicted 

upon National Beverage and its shareholders substantial damage, and have forced National 

Beverage needlessly to retain counsel, at significant cost, for purposes of procuring evidence to 

refute Plaintiff and her counsel’s unfounded allegations, responding to the unsubstantiated 

Complaint, and defending its reputation and goodwill in the marketplace. 

PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND TIMING OF THE LITIGATION 

19. On October 1, 2018, Plaintiff and her counsel filed the Complaint in the Circuit 

Court of Cook County, Illinois.  At the time the Complaint was filed, Plaintiff’s counsel was 

subject to Illinois Supreme Court Rule 137, which prohibits bad faith, frivolous litigation. 

20. On October 25, 2018, National Beverage removed this action to the United States 

District Court for the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division pursuant to the Class Action 

Fairness Act of 2005.  (ECF No. 1.)  In so doing, Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 

attached. 

21. The Complaint purports to allege that representations made by National Beverage 

concerning LaCroix sparkling water, including that LaCroix sparkling water is “all natural” or 

“100% natural,” are false and misleading, and that National Beverage “purposely [made] these 
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misleading representations as part of a scheme to induce American consumers into buying 

LaCroix products.”  (See, e.g., Compl. ¶¶ 1-7, 24-25.)   

22. Plaintiff and her counsel affirmatively allege that LaCroix sparkling water 

contains “chemical compounds” that have been “adjudged” or “declared” to be “synthetic” by 

the FDA.  Therefore, Plaintiff and her counsel summarily and baselessly conclude, LaCroix 

sparkling water is “composed of substances that are not ‘all natural.’”  (Id. at ¶¶ 4, 6, 20.)   

23. The Complaint identifies four “chemical compounds” that allegedly are contained 

in LaCroix sparkling water and that are so-called “synthetically created” and “non-natural.”  (Id. 

at ¶¶ 18-19, 21.) 

24. The Complaint does not set forth any basis for its primary and central claim that 

the four compounds identified therein are synthetic.  Specifically, the Complaint does not allege 

that Plaintiff or her counsel conducted any testing of LaCroix sparkling water to determine 

whether the ingredients contained therein are synthetic or artificial as alleged, nor does the 

Complaint identify any other efforts made by Plaintiff or her counsel to evaluate the synthetic or 

artificial nature of the contents of LaCroix sparkling water.  (See generally, Compl.)   

25. The Complaint also does not cite or reference any particular FDA regulations 

relating to the identified compounds, including regulations declaring such compounds to be 

synthetic.  (See generally, id.)  Critically, the Complaint also wholly fails to mention that these 

compounds can be either naturally occurring or synthetically made (to the extent trace amounts 

may be found in LaCroix sparkling water, they are natural), something Plaintiff and her counsel 

could have easily learned with a simple Google search.  In short, Plaintiff and her counsel did 

nothing to confirm the truth or falsity of the allegation that LaCroix sparkling water contains 

synthetic or artificial ingredients.  
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26. The Complaint purports to assert claims for breach of express warranty, unjust 

enrichment, and violation of the Illinois Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Business Practices Act, 

815 ILCS 505/1 et seq., on behalf of Plaintiff and a putative class consisting of all similarly 

situated individuals in Illinois who purchased LaCroix sparkling water in the last four years.  

(Compl. ¶¶ 31, 38-53.) 

27. On November 14, 2018, National Beverage filed its Answer and Affirmative 

Defenses to Plaintiff’s meritless Complaint.  (ECF. No. 18.)  

28. On November 26, 2018, Plaintiff served the Initial Disclosures of the Plaintiff 

Pursuant to Rule 26(a)(1) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  Contemporaneously, Plaintiff 

produced a report describing testing conducted by an analytical laboratory on a 20mL volume of 

LaCroix Natural Orange Sparkling Water.  (See Ex. B at 1.)  The report summary states that the 

product “was analyzed . . . to determine if any glycerin, propylene glycol, ascorbic acid, 

erythritol or ethanol were present in the product.”  (Id.)   

29. The report concludes that “[g]lycerin, propylene glycol, ascorbic acid and 

erythritol were not detected in the product.”  (Id. at 2.)  Ethanol was detected at a level of 

“0.027% weight/volume.”  (Id.)3 

30. The report adds, without any explanation or analysis, that “additional compounds 

observed in the . . . analysis included ethyl butanoate, limonene, linalool and linalool propionate” 

(i.e., the four ingredients Plaintiff alleges are found in LaCroix sparkling water).  (Id.)  The 

report does not conclude, state, imply, or suggest in any way that any ingredient contained in the 

product is synthetic, artificial, or not 100% natural.  (Id.)  Nor does the report include a gas 

chromatography or mass spectrometry analysis with respect to the ingredients.  (Id.)  

                                                 

3 The detected level of ethanol is consistent with that which would be found in naturally-occurring ingredients.  
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31. On November 30, 2018, pursuant to Rule 26(f) of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure, counsel for Plaintiff and counsel for National Beverage conducted an initial 

conference by telephone, whereby the parties conferred as to the nature and basis of their claims 

and defenses, among other things.  At this conference, Plaintiff’s counsel indicated for the first 

time in this lawsuit the FDA regulation that forms the entirety of Plaintiff’s legal theory in the 

case.  Specifically, Plaintiff’s counsel identified Section 21 CFR 182.60 as the regulation that 

supports the claims put forth in the lawsuit.   

32. Section 21 CFR 182.60 - “Substances Generally Considered Safe; Synthetic 

Flavoring Substances and Adjuvants” - lists certain synthetic ingredients that are generally 

recognized as safe.  Limonene and Linalool, two of the four ingredients mentioned by Plaintiff as 

included in LaCroix sparkling water, are on the list (the regulation is silent as to the other two 

ingredients, linalool propionate and ethyl butanoate).  From here, and without more, Plaintiff 

somehow extrapolates that LaCroix sparkling water contains “synthetic” and “non-natural” 

ingredients.    

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

33. Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure provides, in pertinent part, that: 

By presenting to the court a pleading, written motion, or other 
paper—whether by signing, filing, submitting, or later advocating 
it—an attorney . . . certifies that to the best of the person’s 
knowledge, information and belief, formed after an inquiry 
reasonable under the circumstances: . . . (3) the factual contentions 
have evidentiary support or, if so specifically identified, will likely 
have evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for further 
investigation or discovery . . . . 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(b).4   

                                                 

4 Similarly, Illinois Supreme Court Rule 137 provides:  
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34. Sanctions pursuant to Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure are proper 

when a party has “no reasonable factual basis” to file a pleading or “refuse[s] to withdraw” a 

pleading during the safe harbor period.  See, e.g., Smart Options, LLC v. Jump Rope, Inc., No. 12 

C 2498, 2013 WL 500861, at *9 (N.D. Ill. Feb. 11, 2013) (holding that plaintiff “did not conduct 

a reasonable pre-filing investigation and had no reasonable factual basis to file its complaint, or 

to refuse to withdraw the complaint during the safe harbor period after [defendant] served its 

original Rule 11 motion and letter”).  

35. The central goal of Rule 11 is to deter frivolous litigation and “abusive litigation 

practices.”  Corley v. Rosewood Care Ctr., Inc. of Peoria, 388 F.3d 990, 1013 (7th Cir. 2004); 

see also Fred A. Smith Lumber Co. v. Edidin, 845 F.2d 750, 752 (7th Cir. 1988) (explaining that 

“the most important purpose of Rule 11 sanctions is to deter frivolous litigation and the abusive 

practices of attorneys”).  Rule 11 imposes an affirmative duty on plaintiffs and their counsel to 

conduct a pre-filing inquiry into the facts and law to support a claim.  Ardco, Inc. v. Page, 

Ricker, Felson Marketing, Inc., No. 92 C 2927, 1992 WL 389604, at *1 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 17, 1992) 

(recognizing that “there must be some prefiling  inquiry into both the facts and the law in order 

to satisfy the affirmative duty imposed by Rule 11”).  It also requires the person signing the 

pleading to have a good faith belief in its legal and factual viability and a good faith belief that 

the alleged facts have evidentiary support.  See Neuman v. U.S., No. 07-CV-0362-MJR, 2008 

WL 4378437, at *1 (S.D. Ill. Sept. 23, 2008) (Rule 11 “permits this Court to award sanctions 

against a party who violates Rule 11(b), which provides that by submitting pleadings and 

                                                                                                                                                             

The signature of an attorney or party constitutes a certificate by him . . . that to the best of his 
knowledge, information, and belief formed after reasonable inquiry it is well grounded in fact and 
is warranted by existing law or a good-faith argument for the extension, modification, or reversal 
of existing law, and that it is not interposed for any improper purpose, such as to harass or to cause 
unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of litigation. 
 

Ill. Sup. Ct. R. 137(a). 
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motions to the Court, a party certifies to the Court that the filing is made in good faith, is not 

presented for an improper purpose, and evidentiary support exists for the contentions made 

therein”).  The Seventh Circuit has held that a trial court must impose sanctions when Rule 11 is 

violated.  See Dubisky v. Owens, 849 F.2d 1034, 1036 (7th Cir. 1988) (“[w]hen Rule 11 is 

violated, the district court must impose sanctions against the offending party”). 

36. Pursuing a lawsuit based on factual contentions lacking evidentiary support is a 

manifest violation of Rule 11.  See Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 11(b)(3); see also U.S. Bank Nat’l Ass’n, 

N.D. v. Sullivan-Moore, 406 F.3d 465, 469-71 (7th Cir. 2005) (upholding award of sanctions 

pursuant to Rule 11 where counsel moved forward with a lawsuit even after learning that the 

pleading contained false contentions of fact).  Likewise, pursuit of a lawsuit based on a manifest 

misconstruction of the law governing the asserted claims violates Rule 11.  Ardco, 1992 WL 

389604 at *1. 

37. When the lawsuit was originally filed in state court, Plaintiff and her counsel had 

clear obligations under Illinois Supreme Court Rule 137 to file a lawsuit well grounded in fact 

and warranted by existing law or a good-faith argument.  Once this case was removed to federal 

court, the requirements of Rule 11 attached, and this lawsuit should have been immediately 

dismissed by Plaintiff and her counsel.  As such, this lawsuit was filed in bad faith and is being 

continued by Plaintiff and her counsel in bad faith and in violation of Rule 11 of the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure.  See McConnell v. Iovino Boersma Enters., Inc., No. 04 C 4628, 2006 

WL 1520806, at *3 (N.D. Ill. June 23, 2005) (recognizing that “sanctions pursuant to Rule 11 

can be imposed on a removed suit if the party opposes the dismissal of a frivolous suit first filed 

in state court and later challenged in federal court”); Tannenbaum v. Baxter Healthcare Corp., 

No. 95 C 7051, 1996 WL 327994, at *7 (N.D. Ill. June 12, 1996) (“a federal court may sanction 
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the signing and filing of pleadings in support of a frivolous complaint that has been removed”); 

see also Fed. R. Civ. P. 11 advisory committee’s notes (explaining that “if after a notice of 

removal is filed, a party urges in federal court the allegations of a pleading filed in state court . . . 

it would be viewed as ‘presenting’—and hence certifying to the district court under Rule 11—

those allegations”).  

38. The relevant inquiry is an objective one, asking whether the party should have 

known that his or her position was groundless.  Portman v. Andrews, 249 F.R.D. 279, 282 (N.D. 

Ill. 2007) (explaining that “[a] court may impose sanctions under Rule 11 if . . . a lawsuit is not 

well grounded in fact,” and that “[t]the inquiry is an objective one: whether the party should have 

known that his position was groundless”) (citing CUNA Mut. Ins. Co. v. Ofc. & Prof. Emps. Int’l 

Union, Local 39, 443 F.3d 556, 560 (7th Cir. 2006)).  Where, as here, Plaintiff and her counsel 

failed to conduct a reasonable inquiry into their asserted allegations against National Beverage, 

including failing to honestly portray even their own test results, then the Court must impose 

sanctions despite any claim that Plaintiff and her counsel had a good faith belief that their claims 

had evidentiary support. 

ARGUMENT 

39. Rule 11 sanctions against Plaintiff and her counsel are warranted for three 

reasons:   (1) the allegation that LaCroix sparkling water contains synthetic or artificial 

ingredients is unsupported by any facts, including the testing commissioned by Plaintiff and her 

counsel; (2) there is no legal support for the allegation that the identified ingredients have been 

adjudged by the FDA to be synthetic or artificial; and (3) Plaintiff’s Complaint and press 

releases, when read together claim that testing conducted showed that LaCroix sparkling water 

contained a commonly-used food additive that was not only synthetic but also contained in a  

Case: 1:18-cv-07151 Document #: 33 Filed: 02/14/19 Page 19 of 29 PageID #:163



 

16 

poisonous substance.  At the time of the filing of the Complaint, Plaintiff and her counsel either 

knew or should have known that such allegations lacked sufficient evidentiary or legal support.  

Furthermore, the outright falsity of the allegation that LaCroix sparkling water is not all natural 

as advertised has been confirmed by independent laboratory testing that was shared with Plaintiff 

and her counsel when this Motion was served on January 18, 2019.  (See Grp. Ex. C.)  Despite 

this, and in direct contravention of Rule 11, Plaintiff and her counsel have refused to withdraw 

their deficient pleading, urging the baseless allegations contained therein.   

40. The allegation made by Plaintiff and her counsel that LaCroix sparkling water is 

not “all natural” or “100% natural” because it contains “synthetic” or “artificial” ingredients is 

categorically false and, more importantly for purposes of this Motion, was made without any 

evidentiary or factual support at the time the Complaint was filed. 

41. The Complaint does not allege that Plaintiff or her counsel, before initiating this 

misguided action, tested LaCroix sparkling water to determine whether or not it contains 

“synthetic” or “artificial” ingredients.  (See generally, Compl.)  Nor does the testing disclosed by 

Plaintiff in connection with her Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 26(a)(1) initial disclosures 

provide any factual support for the allegation that LaCroix sparkling water contains synthetic or 

artificial ingredients.   

42. The press release, issued around the same time as the Complaint, claimed that the 

Complaint mentioned the testing:  “In fact, as the filing states, testing reveals that LaCroix 

contains a number of artificial ingredients, including linalool, which is used in cockroach 

insecticide.”  Beaumont Costales, Beaumont Costales Files Class Action Lawsuit Against 

LaCroix Water, BEAUMONT COSTALES BLOG (Oct. 1, 2018), available at: 

https://beaumontcostales.com/beaumont-costales-files-class-action-lawsuit-against-lacroix-water.  
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The testing conducted did not establish that the ingredients were artificial, and the press release 

and Complaint’s unnecessary reference to a poisonous substance was done with the intent to 

maximize harm to National Beverage.  No one, even Plaintiff, contends that there is an active 

poisonous ingredient in LaCroix sparkling water.   So there is no reason to say this other than to 

inflict harm. 

43. The testing commissioned by Plaintiff and her counsel analyzed a single 20mL 

volume of LaCroix sparkling water to determine if any glycerin, propylene glycol, ascorbic acid, 

erythritol or ethanol was present therein.  (Ex. B at 1.)  No glycerin, propylene glycol, ascorbic 

acid, or erythritol was detected.  (Id. at 2.)  The testing did not specifically analyze for ethyl 

butanoate, limonene, linalool, or linalool propionate, i.e., the ingredients allegedly contained in 

LaCroix sparkling water.  (Id.)  Rather, the report merely notes that these compounds were 

“observed” in the analysis.  (Id.)  It does not explain how or to what extent these compounds 

were “observed,” nor does it describe or identify the “observed” levels or include a 

chromatography for these compounds.  (Id.)  In other words, the report is incomplete and lacks 

critical information with respect to the “observed” ingredients that would permit any conclusions 

to be drawn regarding whether the ingredients are synthetic or artificial or natural or otherwise.  

More specifically - and perhaps most importantly - the report does not make any conclusions or 

findings, either explicitly or implicitly, with respect to whether any ingredient or compound 

contained or “observed” in the analyzed volume of LaCroix sparkling water is synthetic or 

artificial.  (See generally, id.)   

44. In contrast, an independent biobased and biogenetic carbon testing laboratory 

accredited under the strict standards set by the International Standards Organization has 

conclusively confirmed that LaCroix sparkling water is all natural and contains no traces of 
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synthetic or artificial additives or ingredients.  Specifically, the ingredients contained in LaCroix 

sparkling water were independently tested under the rigorous standards of the American Society 

for Testing and Materials.  (See Grp. Ex. C.)  The testing found each of the ingredients to be 

“100% Biobased carbon.”  (Id.)  The laboratory concluded that LaCroix sparkling water is in fact 

“all natural,” i.e., entirely sourced from plants, and there is no evidence of synthetic source.  (Id.) 

45. In short, Plaintiff and her counsel failed to conduct a reasonable, pre-filing inquiry 

into their core allegation, namely, that the ingredients contained in LaCroix sparkling water are 

“synthetic” and “artificial.”   Indeed, the limited pre-filing inquiry conducted by Plaintiff and her 

counsel does not support (and did not support at the time the Complaint was filed) their 

allegation that LaCroix sparkling water contains synthetic or artificial ingredients.  Despite this, 

Plaintiff and her counsel proceeded with this lawsuit against National Beverage without any 

factual support for the claims asserted herein.  This is exactly what Rule 11 is designed to avoid.  

Bartoli v. Richmond, 215 F.3d 1329, 2000 WL 687155, at *3-4 (7th Cir. 2000) (holding that 

“Rule 11 required plaintiffs to determine whether [defendant’s] conduct comported with IRS 

procedures before they alleged that it did not”) (emphasis in original).    Therefore, sanctions are 

warranted.  See Smart Options, 2013 WL 500861 at *9 (granting motion for sanctions where 

plaintiff “did not conduct a reasonable pre-filing investigation and had no reasonable factual 

basis to file its complaint”).   

46. Furthermore, the refusal of Plaintiff and her counsel to dismiss this lawsuit after 

being provided with evidence conclusively demonstrating the falsity of their allegations shows 

that this lawsuit has been presented and maintained solely to harass National Beverage, to extort 

it into a quick settlement, or for some other “improper purpose.”  In each instance, this is a 

violation of Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and sanctions are warranted.  See de 
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la Fuente v. DCI Telecommunications, Inc., 259 F. Supp. 2d 250, 260 (S.D.N.Y. 2003) (finding 

that filing a lawsuit “to pressure defendants into a quick settlement . . . would violate Rule 

11(b)(1)); see also Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(b) (proscribing pleadings presented for “any improper 

purpose, such as to harass”) and advisory committee notes thereto (explaining that the language 

of Rule 11 “stresses the need for some prefiling inquiry into both the facts and the law to satisfy 

the affirmative duty imposed by the rule”).  

47. Plaintiff’s legal analysis is equally unfounded and therefore sanctions are 

warranted.  Specifically, in the Complaint, Plaintiff and her counsel allege that the FDA has 

“declared” that the compounds ethyl butanoate, limonene, linalool, and linalool propionate are 

“synthetic.”  (Compl. ¶¶ 16-20.)  Plaintiff and her counsel do not cite any specific FDA 

regulation or otherwise explain the basis for this statement.  This omission was a calculated one: 

in addition to the factual falsities set forth above, Plaintiff’s reliance on Section 21 CFR 182.60, 

which Plaintiff’s counsel revealed only recently, long after the Complaint was filed, is wholly 

misplaced, further evidencing the tenuous nature of this lawsuit, and the total failure by Plaintiff 

and her counsel of the duty to conduct a pre-filing inquiry into the law in support of their 

purported claim.  Ardco, 1992 WL 389604 at *1 (“there must be some prefiling inquiry into . . . 

the law in order to satisfy the affirmative duty imposed by Rule 11”).    

48. In the Parties’ recent Rule 26(f) conference, Plaintiff’s counsel cited 21 CFR 

182.60 as support for the allegations contained in the Complaint.  Section 21 CFR 182.60 lists 

certain synthetic ingredients that are generally recognized as safe.  Limonene and Linalool, two 

of the four ingredients mentioned by Plaintiff as included in LaCroix sparkling water, are on the 

list (the regulation is silent as to the other two ingredients, linalool propionate and ethyl 
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butanoate).  From here, and without more, Plaintiff somehow extrapolates that LaCroix sparkling 

water contains “synthetic” and “non-natural” ingredients.   

49. Plaintiff’s counsel is more than simply wrong in its construction of Section 21 

CFR 182.60.  Indeed, Plaintiff’s counsel has manipulated the meaning of this regulation in order 

to manufacture the present lawsuit.  This regulation simply states that a synthetic version of 

limonene and linalool is generally recognized as safe.  It does not state that limonene and linalool 

are per se or always equal to being a synthetic ingredient.  Any such construction is ludicrous: 

the inclusion of fresh lemon as an ingredient in a food or drink would reflect the presence of 

limonene, for example, but this certainly does not compel the result that the food or drink now 

contains a synthetic substance.  In other words, the fact that the FDA has included certain 

ingredients on a list where the synthetic versions of those ingredients are generally recognized as 

safe does not mean that the FDA has determined that the presence of that ingredient in all 

instances means the ingredient is synthetic.   

50. Incidentally, the relevant regulation here is Section 21 CFR 501.22, the Code of 

Federal Regulations governing the labeling of spices, flavorings, colorings, and chemical 

preservatives.  This Section defines the terms “natural flavor” and “natural flavorings” as, inter 

alia, the “essential oil . . . [or] . . . essence or extractive . . . which contains the flavoring 

constituents derived from . . . fruit or fruit juice, vegetable or vegetable juice, edible yeast, herb, 

bark, bud, root, [or] leaf or similar plant material . . . .”   

51. Each of the ingredients identified in the Complaint as contained in LaCroix 

sparkling water are naturally occurring and derived from fruits and plants such as strawberries, 
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pineapples, bananas, oranges, apples, limes, blueberries, sage, lavender, and ginger.5  While two 

of the compounds – “limonene” and “linalool” – may also be categorized as synthetic, this alone, 

without further inquiry and analysis and actual facts (none of which are contained in the 

Complaint or within the report issued in connection with the testing commissioned by Plaintiff 

and her counsel), does not support that LaCroix sparkling water is not “all natural.”  Plaintiff and 

her counsel’s filing and maintenance of this deliberately inflammatory lawsuit without 

conducting appropriate and reliable testing for their allegations, without citations in support of 

the claims asserted herein, and without other reasonable inquiry into the alleged facts is in direct 

contravention of Rule 11 and should not be permitted.  See, e.g., Sansone v. Kormex Metal Craft, 

Inc., No. 14 C 8418, 2016 WL 1529900, at *8 (N.D. Ill. Apr. 14, 2016) (finding that plaintiff and 

his attorney violated Rule 11 by advocating a pleading which contained “factual contentions” 

they knew did not have evidentiary support); Border Magic LLC v. Howard, No. 04-2144, 2007 

WL 1100582, at *2 (C.D. Ill. Apr. 11, 2007) (ordering plaintiffs’ counsel to show cause why 

sanctions should not be imposed pursuant to Rule 11 where “[s]ignificant allegations in the 

complaint appeared to have been made without reasonable inquiry”); Smart Options, 2013 WL 

500861 at *9 (granting motion for sanctions where plaintiff and its counsel “did not conduct a 

reasonable pre-filing investigation and had no reasonable factual basis to file its complaint”).  

                                                 

5 A. Filipsson, J. Bard, S. Karlsson, Limonene, Concise International Chemical Assessment Document 5, WORLD 

HEALTH ORGANIZATION, at 8, http://www.who.int/ipcs/publications/cicad/ en/cicad05.pdf (last visited Nov. 29, 
2018) (“[l]imonene occurs naturally in citrus fruits and spices”); Technical Resources International, Inc., Summary 
Data for Chemical Selection: Linalool, CAS NO. 78-70-6, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES, 
https://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/ntp/htdocs/chem_background/exsumpdf/linalool_508.pdf (last visited Nov. 29, 2018) 
(“Linalool and many of its esters have been identified as constituents of the flavors of many fruits and as natural 
components of many essential oils used in flavorings, mainly of the citrus type”); Linalyl Propionate, NATIONAL 

CENTER FOR BIOTECHNOLOGY INFORMATION, U.S. NATIONAL LIBRARY OF MEDICINE, https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih. 
gov/compound/Linalyl_propionate (last visited Nov. 29, 2018) (“Linalyl propionate is found in ginger”); Ethyl 
Butyrate, NATIONAL CENTER FOR BIOTECHNOLOGY INFORMATION, U.S. NATIONAL LIBRARY OF MEDICINE, 
https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/ethyl_butyrate (last visited Nov. 29, 2018) (“Ethyl butyrate, also 
known as ethyl butanoate . . . is present in many fruits e. g. apple, apricot, banana, plum, tangerine etc.”). 
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The conduct of Plaintiff and her counsel is precisely the sort of “abusive litigation practices” 

Rule 11 sanctions are meant to deter.   

CONCLUSION 

WHEREFORE, National Beverage Corp. respectfully requests that this Court enter an 

Order for Sanctions against Plaintiff Lenora Rice and her counsel pursuant to Rule 11 of the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, including payment to National Beverage of any and all 

reasonable attorney’s fees and other expenses incurred to date and going forward, and award any 

and all other relief that the Court deems just and necessary. 

Dated: February 14, 2019     Respectfully submitted,  
National Beverage Corp. 

 
        By: /s/ April Boyer    
         One of Its Attorneys 
 

Desiree F. Moore 
Matthew A. Alvis 
K&L GATES LLP 
70 West Madison Street, Suite 3300 
Chicago, Illinois 60602-4207 
Telephone: (312) 372-1121 
Facsimile: (312) 827-8000 
desiree.moore@klgates.com 
matthew.alvis@klgates.com  
 
Matthew G. Ball (pro hac vice) 
K&L GATES LLP 
4 Embarcadero Center, Suite 1200 
San Francisco, California 94111 
Telephone: (415) 882-8200 
Facsimile: (415) 882-8220 
E-mail: matthew.ball@klgates.com 
 
April Boyer (pro hac vice) 
K&L GATES LLP 
Southeast Financial Center, Suite 
3900 
200 South Biscayne Boulevard 
Miami, FL 33131 
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Telephone: (305) 539-3300 
Facsimile: (305) 358-7095 
E-mail: april.boyer@klgates.com 
 
Attorneys for National Beverage 
Corp.  
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CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 11 

In compliance with Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, I hereby certify that 

a true and correct copy of the foregoing was served on counsel for Plaintiff but not filed with the 

Court for 21 days.  Service of the foregoing was by electronic mail delivery on the 18th day of 

January, 2019 to: 

William H. Beaumont  
Roberto L. Costales 
Jonathan M. Kirkland 
BEAUMONT COSTALES LLC 
3151 West 26th Street, Second Floor  
Chicago, Illinois 60623 
Telephone: (773) 831-8000  
E-mail:  whb@beaumontcostales.com 

rlc@beaumontcostales.com 
jmk@beaumontcostales.com 
 

Attorneys for Plaintiff  

 
 
 

/s/  April Boyer   
    April Boyer  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

This is to certify that on February 14, 2019, the foregoing was filed with the Clerk of 
Court using the CM/ECF system, which will send notification of such filing to the following 
counsel of record: 

 
William H. Beaumont  
Roberto L. Costales 
Jonathan M. Kirkland 
BEAUMONT COSTALES  LLC 
3151 West 26th Street, Second Floor  
Chicago, Illinois 60623 
Telephone: (773) 831-8000  

Attorneys for Plaintiff  

 
 

/s/  April Boyer   
    April Boyer 
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